IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 67,160

NOVA UNIVERSITY, INC., JANET STEVENS, CHARLES STEVENS, et al.

Petitioners.

VS.

JOSEPHINE C. WAGNER, et al,

Respondents.

FILED
SID J. WHITE
JUL 9/1985
CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

ON PETITION TO REVIEW A CERTIFIED QUESTION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

JANET STEVENS, CHARLES STEVENS AND
CHICAGO INSURANCE COMPANY

MARLOW, SHOFI, SMITH, CONNEL DE MAHY & VALERIUS 2950 S.W. 27 Avenue Suite 200 Miami, Florida 33133 (305) 446-0500 By: JOSEPH H. LOWE, ESQUIRE

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District Court of Appeal certified the following question to this Court:

Does knowledge of a child's violence require a parent to exercise control to avoid injury to another caused by subsequent violence which is more severe?

The question posed is too general to be answered as a matter of law since the answer will depend on the relative severity of the prior and subsequent violence.

In the present case, Dana and Roland, two young male housemates of a private residential, juvenile treatment center, left without permission and brutally beat, stomped and strangled a four year old and a six year old they happened to come upon. The four year old sustained a crushed skull and died of asphyxia. The six year old was strangled into unconsciousness but survived. Charles and Janet Stevens, whom we represent, were employed as houseparents at the Center.

Florida law requires that a parent must first be put on notice of a child's propensities to commit a specific type of act before the parent may be held liable for subsequent occurrences of that particular conduct. Here, the Center had no knowledge of the boys' homicidal capacities. During previous elopements they had not hurt anyone. Though they had been

involved in the usual fights among themselves at the Center, there is no evidence in the record that anyone was ever seriously hurt as a result of those scuffles. The boys' homicidal assaults, being unforeseeable, constituted the sole proximate cause, or the active and efficient intervening cause, of the injuries to their victims.

Assuming the Stevens were somehow negligent in failing to stop the boys from running away from the non-custodial center or in pursuing them more strenuously once they escaped, the Stevens' negligence was not a proximate cause of the injuries the boys inflicted. On the day after they ran away, the boys showed up at the home of Dana's father. Dana's father learned, from calling Mr. Stevens, that the boys had run away and that they were expected back immediately.

Although he promised Mr. Stevens that he would return the boys to the Center, and Mr. Stevens desisted from sending the police to Dana's home on the strength of this promise, Dana's father dropped the boys off some distance from the Center. The boys did not return to the Center, but ran off and, within a very short time, found and assaulted the children. Dana's father behaved in such an unforeseeable and negligent manner when he failed to return the boys to the Center, after undertaking to do so, that his negligence constituted the sole proximate cause, or the active and efficient intervening cause,

of the victims' injuries.

Because of the several levels of unforeseeability that intervened between the Stevens' alleged negligence and the victims' injuries, one of the key ingredients of "duty," namely, foreseeability of harm, is missing in this case. Public policy considerations also militate against imposing a duty of care on the Stevens.

Residential treatment centers for troubled juveniles are highly favored, non-restrictive alternatives to juvenile detention facilities. These centers work closely with courts and public agencies in an effort to provide non-custodial alternatives for dependent or troubled minors. Dana was originally sent to the Center by the juvenile court. Both Dana and Roland were repeatedly returned to the Center by the juvenile court after each of their previous elopements.

The complex decision of a court or public agency to refer or divert a child to a non-custodial setting is the very essence of an immune discretionary planning function. The decision by a private residential program to accept a referral, or retain a child in its program, is equally complex and must be equally free from the threat of liability if hindsight shows that the child should have been placed in a more physically restrictive setting.

Even if the Stevens did have a duty to their wards' victims, they did not act negligently. They were merely employees of

of Nova University under whose auspices the Center was created. The Stevens were at the very bottom of the decisional hierarchy at the Center. They could do nothing more than implement the Center's policies, make recommendations to their superiors, and act as a component part of a much larger Center staff. The Stevens had no unilateral authority to refuse to admit Roland and Dana to the program or exclude them from it once they were in.

When Roland and Dana eloped, the Stevens acted as they were supposed to do by calling the police and alerting the Director of the Center. Since Roland and Dana had never posed a threat to anyone's safety during prior elopements, the Stevens had no reason to expend extraordinary effort or time to secure their return but could reasonably wait until they were caught by the police, returned voluntarily, or were brought back by Dana's father.

Because of the absence of proximate causation, or duty, of the Stevens, the summary judgment in their favor, entered by the trial court, should be reinstated.

INTRODUCTORY SUMMARY

On the evening of February 16, 1975, fifteen year old Dana Williamson and thirteen year old Roland Menzies ran away from their residential group foster home. Their home was one of two private houses owned by defendant, Nova University, which made up the Nova Living and Learning Center ("the Center").

The Center was a state-licensed, private agency which accepted private and public placements of dependent and delinquent male adolescents. Dana had been accepted by the Center following a juvenile court finding of dependency; Roland had been placed directly by his parents. At the time of their elopement, Dana had lived at the house for about three months and Roland for slightly over one year.

The house in which Dana and Roland lived was under the supervision of Charles Stevens and his wife, Janet Stevens, whom Nova employed and trained as houseparents. The Stevens lived at the house with their three minor children. Their function was to manage the day-to-day affairs of the house and to provide an open, warm and positive home environment for up to nine or ten boys in which good behavior would be reinforced with prescribed points and privileges, and bad behavior punished by a loss of benefits. Although the home was not locked, barred or fenced, the boys were not supposed to leave the premises without permission.

By the afternoon of February 17, 1975, following their flight the day before, Dana and Roland had found their way to the home of Dana's father, Charles Williamson. Mr. Williamson, after calling and learning from Charles Stevens that Dana and Roland had run away, agreed to drive Dana and Roland back to the Center. He did not drive them to the Center door but dropped both boys off some distance away. Instead of returning to the Center, Dana and Roland continued their flight.

Within a short period of time, and close to where they had been dropped off by Dana's father, Dana and Roland came upon four year old Peter Wagner and his six year old sister, Christy. Using their feet, their hands and some wire, and without any apparent motive, Dana and Roland brutally beat, stomped and strangled Peter and Christy. Christy survived but Peter did not.

Dana and Roland were caught several days later. They confessed to the crimes, pleaded guilty to manslaughter, and were imprisoned. The civil actions which are the subject of this appeal are a wrongful death action arising out of Peter's death and an action for damages for Christy's injuries.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Although the first complaint in this case was filed in 1976 (R. 2784), the relevant procedural events begin in late 1982, on the eve of trial of the plaintiffs' 1979 amended

complaint (R. 4043). At that time, the Stevens, along with Nova and other defendants, moved for summary judgment.

(R. 885-892). The Stevens sought summary judgment on the grounds that there was no legal or causal relationship between anything they did or did not do and the acts of Dana and Roland.

(R. 885-7). Their motion was denied (R. 936), and the trial began.

Following a mistrial, the Stevens, along with the other defendants, again moved for summary judgment. (R. 1502; 1483-4). Five memoranda of law were filed by the parties. (R. 1503-16; 1485-1501; 1539-1559; 1560-1566). Based upon these new memoranda, and additional argument, the trial judge reconsidered his earlier position and granted all the defendants' motions for summary judgment on the grounds that the defendants "owed no duty to the plaintiffs as a matter of law." (R. 1572). This appeal followed. (R. 1579).

In formulating a statement of facts, we are faced with an unusual problem. Nova stipulated, in its memorandum of law in support of its motion for summary judgment, that

For the purposes of this motion only, all the allegations of the complaints are admitted.... (R. 1485,n.1).

The Stevens, who were independently represented, did not join in Nova's stipulation. They stipulated, instead, that

For the purposes of this memorandum, it will be assumed that Plaintiffs would be able to prove all the facts asserted in their opening statement. (R. 1503,n.1).

The opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal acknowledged and accepted Nova's stipulation, but said nothing about that of the Stevens'. Wagner v. Nova University, et al., 10 FLW 1383 (Fla.4th DCA June 5, 1985).

Rather than attempt to intuit just what part, if any, of the record the District Court relied upon, or argue that Nova's stipulation was never binding upon the Stevens or that their stipulation is no longer operative, we have chosen to do the following. We will generally honor both stipulations except for those demonstratively untrue or grossly overstated assertions contained in the amended complaint and the plaintiffs' opening statement. We will also allow ourselves a citation to the record where the amended complaint and the opening statement fail to address some essential aspect of this case.

We take this position because we are confident that an answer to the question certified by the District Court will not hinge on what the complaint or the plaintiffs' opening allege, but on the indisputable fact that Dana and Roland never exhibited any behavior remotely comparable to their homicidal conduct on February 17, 1975.

The essential, factual allegations against the Stevens-considering that the extent of their appreciation of Dana's and Roland's alleged capacity for violence will be largely determinative of their liability herein--are contained in paragraphs 18, 19 and 29 of the amended complaint. (R. 4043). Paragraph 18 alleges that Dana and Roland, while at the Center

exhibited a propensity, tendency or proclivity (a) to behave in a physically violent manner, often abusing and injuring other residents of the Nova Living and Learning Center, (b) to behave in an uncontrollable manner, often carrying to extremes of physical violence activities which began or were initiated in the spirit of frivolity, (c) to oppress both physically and verbally, children smaller and younger than themselves, and (d) to escape or run away frequently, from the Nova Living and Learning Center, often overnight, and while so at large, often committing offenses which would be considered crimes, if committed by adults.

Paragraph 19 alleges that the Stevens actually observed the "violent and ungovernable propensities, tendencies or proclivities" of Dana and Roland and knew or should have known that they "had a propensity to commit acts which could normally be expected to cause harm to others." The Stevens, it is alleged, nevertheless failed to properly control and supervise Dana and Roland. Paragraph 29 essentially reincorporates the allegations of Paragraph 18 and 19 in an <u>in loco parentis</u> count.

When we search the factual record for instances of assaultive conduct that either boy had previously exhibited to the Stevens during the only time periods that are relevant here--

while they were on runaway status--we find the following. From his admission to the Center in November, 1974, to his final departure on February 16, 1975, Dana was never reported as committing any assaultive act against any person during any of his elopements from the Center.

Roland, like Dana, would run away from the Center. During his elopements, Roland had a propensity toward larceny. He was repeatedly accused of, or implicated in, thefts of bicycles, shoplifting and assorted break-ins to cars and buildings during his sojourns from the Center. On each occasion, Roland was apprehended, diverted from the juvenile justice system and returned to the Center. (R. 2660-2680; 4123-4154).

Just as Dana's case, however, the records of Roland's elopements are totally devoid of any mention of offenses against persons. However incorrigible and rebellious Roland may have been in an institutional or supervised atmosphere, the record reveals, without exception, that he committed only larcenous offenses during his elopements from the Center.

The factual allegations made against Dana and Roland in the plaintiffs' opening statement (R. 134-171) are not at variance with the foregoing. All the allegations regarding Dana's conduct contained in the plaintiffs' opening statement refer to Dana's behavior before he arrived at the Center. Aside from boyish fighting, no incidents of gratuitous violence or assaultiveness of any kind are attributed to Dana, during the

period of time that he resided at the Center. This includes the periods Dana was physically present at the Center as well as during his periods of elopement. (R. 141-150).

The plaintiffs also allege in their opening statement that Roland sexually molested the Stevens' young daughter.

(R. 151). Roland's act, which consisted of no more than a touching (R. 3932-3), was viewed by the Stevens, at the time, simply as an attempt to provoke them. As the Stevens contemporaneously reported the incident in their daily log:

Roland is trying to get us mad so we will hit him (Beat him). He wants to have us fired and be able to sue us.

(Center log of 4/16/74, R. 1719-1875: R. 2745). The Stevens, it may be inferred, since the record is silent on this point, did not feel the incident so ominous or threatening to their three young children's safety that Roland had to be punished further than by a loss of privilege points.

The plaintiffs' also allege that Roland engaged in "violent behavior" toward others. (R. 151). With few exceptions, Roland's physical aggression was confined to the institutional setting of the Center and directed at the adults and children with whom he lived and closely interacted. Roland's anger was manifested primarily in terms of fighting and malicious, non-injurious assaultive acts.

Fighting and assaultive behavior was not at all uncommon among the population of the Stevens' home. According to

Mr. Stevens:

I would say that [Roland] didn't fight any more than any of the other boys did in the program, which would be--there was perhaps one or two fights a week between any two boys. It was--you get nine boys in one house together, a total of fourteen people living in there, tempers are bound to flare, especially with boys with a background such as these, being problem children anyway. (R. 3931-3)

Fights in the house were generally quick and uneventful.

For the most part one boy would take a swing at another. In

Mr. Stevens' words, "That would be it. Sometimes they connected,
sometimes they didn't." (R. 3931-3).

The record, in short, is totally devoid of any evidence that Dana or Roland ever killed a person, attempted to kill a person, choked a person, stomped on a person, rendered a person unconscious, caused a person to seek medical treatment, or, during any period of elopement, as much as touched another person in any aggressive way.

Against this background, Roland and Dana, who had never run away together before, departed from the Center without permission on the evening of February 16, 1975. (R. 2981). As was their usual practice, the Stevens reported the boys' elopement to the police, and to Dr. John Flynn, the Director of the Center. (R. 3082-83; 3933-35).

The next day, February 17, 1975, after learning that the

boys had been seen in the area, Charles Stevens received a telephone call from Charles Williamson, Dana's father. Mr. Williamson told Mr. Stevens that both boys were at his home and was informed that the boys had run away from the Center. Mr. Stevens advised either Dana's father or Dana, or both, that if the boys did not return voluntarily, the police would be sent for them. Dana's father told Mr. Stevens that he would bring the boys back to the Center. To create the illusion that the boys were returning voluntarily, Dana's father dropped them off some distance from the Center. boys waited until Dana's father had left and then went off in another direction. About an hour later, Dana and Roland came upon Peter and Christy Wagner and in the manner already described, killed Peter and almost killed Christy. (R. 158-160; 4087-4154 - containing, at page 1 of the "Confidential Evaluation" sections in the Pre-Sentenced Investigations of Dana and Roland, the confessions of each boy).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed the defendants' summary judgments for two reasons. First, the Court found evidence of "failure to exercise parental control" in the ease with which Dana and Roland left the Center and in the Center's failure to bring them back the next day although advised of their whereabouts. Secondly, observing that "violence is violence," the Court found that Dana's and Roland's alleged propensity for fighting sufficiently revealed their latent

capacity for homicidal violence. <u>Wagner v. Nova University</u>, supra, 10 FLW 1383-4.

For the latter reason, the Court distinguished the case of <u>Gissen v. Goodwill</u>, 80 So.2d 701 (Fla.1955) which clearly requires a child to have committed the same type of injurious act before the child's parents can be held liable for its repetition.

For the reasons that follow, the conclusions of the District Court as to the liability of Charles and Janet Stevens lack factual support in the record and are, as a matter of law, unsound.

POINT I

THE ALLEGED NEGLIGENCE OF THE STEVENS IN ALLOWING DANA AND ROLAND TO LEAVE THE CENTER AND IN FAILING TO SECURE THEIR EARLIER RETURN WAS NOT A PROXIMATE CAUSE OF THE WAGNERS' INJURIES WHERE DANA AND ROLAND HAD NEVER EXHIBITED A PROPENSITY FOR VIOLENCE DURING THEIR ELOPEMENTS AND HAD NEVER COMMITTED ANY ACT WHILE AT THE CENTER REMOTELY COMPARABLE IN VIOLENCE, METHODS AND CONSEQUENCES TO THE ACTS COMMITTED AGAINST THE WAGNERS.

Gissen v. Goodwill, 80 So.2d 701 (Fla.1955) is completely dispositive on this point. Gissen, a hotel employee, lost his finger when little Geraldine Goodwill slammed a hotel door upon it. Geraldine had previously destroyed furniture and furnishings in the hotel and had harrassed, struck and injured hotel guests

and employees. Gissen sued Geraldine's parents, but failed to allege that Geraldine "had a propensity to swing or slam doors at the hazard of persons using such doors." Id. at 705.

This court first stated the general rule that paternity, per se, will not render a parent liable for a child's torts unless the parent

fails to exercise parental control over his minor child although he knows or in the exercise of due care should have known that injury to another is a probable consequence. Id. at 704.

This rule was then interpreted to require allegations and, by inference, proof "that the child had the habit of doing the particular type of wrongful act which resulted in the injury complained of." Id. at 705. Mr. Gissen's complaint, which had failed to contain such an allegation, was, therefore, held to have been properly dismissed.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal acknowledged that Gissen v. Goodwill seems to require that the minor must have engaged in the particular conduct in question before parental liability can attach. The District Court attempted to distinguish Gissen v. Goodwill by asserting that "violence is violence" and that Dana's and Roland's prior acts of "beating upon other children" was what happened to the Wagner children "with the exacerbated result as the only difference." The District Court then certified this question:

Does knowledge of a child's volence require a parent to exercise conrrol to avoid injury to another caused by subsequent violence which is more severe?

The question, with all deference to the lower court, is so unfairly loaded and unresponsive to the facts of our case that it is more a rhetorical flourish than an analytical inquiry. Obviously, if a child is known to slap, and thereafter whacks, his subsequent violence, if we can call it that, "is more severe." But that is hardly our case. We are dealing here with a particularly brutal murder preceded by nothing more serious than petty larcenies and non-injurious demonstrations of boyish physicality.

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