ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

RUBIN & RUBINCHIK, P.A. 500 Center Court Bldg. 2450 Hollywood Blvd. Hollywood, Florida 33020

HARRY A. GAINES, P.A. Penthouse 1003, Security Trust Bldg. 700 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131

-and-

PODHURST, ORSECK, PARKS, JOSEFSBERG, EATON, MEADOW & OLIN, P.A.
1201 City National Bank Building
25 West Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 358-2800

BY: JOEL D. EATON

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

The trial court heard brief argument on the motions for summary judgment—and, as everyone in the room fully expected (since the motions had been solicited, and notwith-standing a contrary ruling less than three months before), it granted the motions with the statement, "I find as a matter of law there is no duty" (R. 608-26). A summary final judgment was thereafter entered in the defendants' favor on the single stated ground that the defendants "owed no duty to the plaintiffs as a matter of law" (R. 1572). The plaintiffs thereafter served a timely motion for rehearing—which was briefly heard and denied (R. 1574, 628-33, 1578). A timely appeal followed (R. 1579). No cross-appeals were taken from the denial of the earlier motions for summary judgment, and the *only* issue argued in the District Court concerning the propriety of summary judgment was whether the defendants owed the plaintiffs any duty of care. The Fourth District reversed, and certified the "duty" issue to this Court. In view of the procedural background related above, the only issue properly before the Court is whether the defendants owed the plaintiffs a duty of reasonable care on the facts alleged in the complaints and stated in the opening statement of counsel.

II ISSUE PRESENTED ON REVIEW

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT, ON THE FACTS ALLEGED IN THE PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINTS AND STATED IN OPENING STATEMENT OF COUNSEL, THE DEFENDANTS OWED THE PLAINTIFFS A DUTY OF REASONABLE CARE.

III SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Relying upon a handful of recent decisions in only analogous cases from California and Minnesota, the defendants contended below that, while they may have had a duty to exercise reasonable care for the safety of specifically identifiable potential victims of their dangerous wards, they owed no duty of care to other foreseeable potential victims within the zone of risk created by their activities. Florida law is clearly to the con-

trary. As we hope to demonstrate, Florida law imposes upon the defendants a duty of reasonable care to prevent foreseeable injuries in the circumstances presented here in at least three different ways: (1) a general duty to exercise care for the safety of persons within the foreseeable zone of risk created by their activities; (2) a more specific duty to supervise their dangerous wards to prevent injury to foreseeable potential victims, which arises from their practical status as substitute "parents" of their wards; and (3) a duty assumed by the defendants by assumption of the undertaking itself. We will argue each of these three bases for the defendants' duty in turn.

We will also address several of the miscellaneous contentions raised by the defendants here. In response to some of the defendants' contentions that they do not stand in loco parentis to their wards, we will point out that all of the defendants conceded in the District Court that they occupied that status, and that they therefore have no business arguing to the contrary here. In any event, we will also demonstrate that that status fits all of them like a glove. In response to the defendants' contentions that they were entitled to summary judgment on the grounds that there were no material issues of fact requiring resolution by a jury on the sub-issues of negligence and proximate causation, we will point out that their motions for summary judgment did not raise those grounds; that they did not assert those grounds for affirmance in the District Court; and that those alternative grounds are therefore not properly before this Court. Because those alternative grounds are not properly before the Court, we will not involve the Court in a lengthy discussion of those two sub-issues.

IV ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT, ON THE FACTS ALLEGED IN THE PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINTS AND STATED IN OPENING STATEMENT OF COUNSEL, THE DEFENDANTS OWED THE PLAINTIFFS A DUTY OF REASONABLE CARE.

1. The general duty of care to persons within the foreseeable zone of risk.

Mr. Justice Stewart once wrote that hard-core pornography could never be intelligibly defined, "[b]ut I know it when I see it." *Jacobellis v. Ohio*, 378 U.S. 184, 197, 84 S. Ct. 1676, 12 L. Ed.2d 793 (1964) (concurring opinion). We think the concept of "duty" in the law of negligence is alot like hard-core pornography—elusive of definition, but recognizable when it exists:

Whenever one person is by circumstances placed in such a position with regard to another that every one of ordinary sense who did think would at once recognize that if he did not use ordinary care and skill in his own conduct with regard to those circumstances he would cause danger of injury to the person or property of the other, a duty arises to use ordinary care and skill to avoid such danger.

Smith v. Hinkley, 98 Fla. 132, 123 So. 564, 566 (1929); Carter v. Livesay Window Co., 73 So.2d 411, 413 (Fla. 1954); Green Springs, Inc. v. Calvera, 239 So.2d 264, 265-66 (Fla. 1970). See Rupp v. Bryant, 417 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1982). In short, "[a] common law duty exists when a court says it does because it thinks it should". Robertson v. Deak Perera (Miami), Inc., 396 So.2d 749, 752 (Fla. 3rd DCA), review denied, 407 So.2d 1105 (Fla. 1981) (J. Schwartz, dissenting). Or, as Dean Prosser has put it: "... the courts will find a duty where, in general, reasonable men would recognize it and agree that it exists." Prosser, The Law of Torts, p. 327 (4th ed. 1971). The law is perhaps no more complicated than that. 7/

We therefore perceive it to be our function here to convince this Court simply that, as a matter of fundamental fairness in the social order, a residential treatment center

In the argument which follows, we will provide the Court with three legal bases for recognizing such a duty. The District Court accepted one of them, and reversed. Because it found one of the bases sufficient to support imposition of the duty, it did not reach our alternative bases. Because all three were advanced below, however, we take it that all three can be properly advanced here, as the defendants have conceded. See Tillman v. State, 10 FLW 305 (Fla. June 6, 1985).

housing incorrigibly delinquent, mentally disturbed, anti-social, violence-prone boys should exercise reasonable care to control their behavior and prevent them from roaming freely about the nearby neighborhood in search of small children upon which to act out their oft-repeated aggressive fantasies. We perceive no difficulty in fulfilling that function. We simply ask the justices of this Court to assume hypothetically that their own children were being raised within $\frac{1}{4}$ mile of the Nova Living and Learning Center. On those hypothetical facts, we are certain that this Court would declare in an instant that the defendants owed their hypothetical neighbors a duty of reasonable care to prevent precisely the type of unforgivable tragedy which occurred in the instant case. The real neighbors of the defendants' treatment center, of course, deserve no less. 8/

Because of the obviousness of such a conclusion, it should come as no surprise to this Court that the duty which every reasonable person would recognize on the facts in this case is almost universally accepted in the jurisprudence of this nation:

<u>Duty of Those in Charge of Person Having Dangerous Propensities</u>

One who takes charge of a third person whom he knows or should know to be likely to cause bodily harm to others if not controlled is under a duty to exercise reasonable care to control the third person to prevent him from doing such harm.

Restatement (Second) of Torts, \$319. See Prosser, supra, pp. 348-50.9/

B/ The defendants complained of a similar argument made below, characterizing it as an impermissible "golden rule" argument, and they are likely to complain once again here. We are aware that "golden rule" arguments cannot properly be made to a finder of fact, but we think it is entirely appropriate to make such an argument to a court charged with determining what the public policy will be with respect to a particular question of law-especially since this Court sits, in effect, as the legal conscience of all the citizens of the State.

^{9/} The defendants will respond, as they contended below, that this provision of the Restatement is inapplicable to them because their institution was not a security institution. In our judgment, the defendants' institution should have provided security, and its failure to do so is simply a breach of the general duty of care which it owed to its neighbors. We need not debate the defendants on that point, however, because it is irrelevant that the defendants' institution was not a security institution. It is irrelevant because

While the existence of a general duty of reasonable care is undeniable on the facts in this case, the more appropriate question is the one put in issue by the defendants' contention that the scope of their duty of care does not extend to reasonably foreseeable potential victims of their wards, but is limited to specifically identifiable potential victims only. The defendants' contention is, in effect, merely a restatement of the "special duty" doctrine. Florida tort law recognized this doctrine once, but only in the context of tort liability for the negligent acts of municipal officers. See Modlin v. City of Miami Beach, 201 So.2d 70 (Fla. 1967). Recently, however, the "special duty" doctrine was roundly and soundly rejected by this Court:

... by less kind commentators, [the "special duty" doctrine] has been characterized as a theory which results in a duty to none where there is a duty to all. Regardless, it is clear that the Modlin doctrine is a function of municipal sovereign immunity and not a traditional negligence concept which has meaning apart from the governmental setting. Accordingly, its efficacy is dependent on the continuing vitality of the doctrine of sovereign immunity. If this be so, does the Modlin doctrine survive notwithstanding the enactment of section 768.28? We think not.

Commercial Carrier Corp. v. Indian River County, 371 So.2d 1010, 1015 (Fla. 1979). $\frac{10}{}$ This sentiment was carried a step further in Rupp v. Bryant, 417 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1982), in which this Court noted that Modlin had clearly overstated the law, and that all that was

^{\$319} is not limited to security institutions, but is addressed to all persons who "take charge of a third person" with dangerous propensities. See reporter's Comment to \$319.

In the instant case, whether under armed guard or not, the dangerous residents of the defendants' treatment center were prohibited from leaving the grounds without permission and supervision, and they were clearly in the custody of the defendants. There can be no debate about that, because Dr. Flynn admitted precisely that at trial: "House parent refers to a relatively untrained couple who provide custodial ... care ..." (R. 311). Section 319 therefore clearly applies to the defendants' treatment center. See DeLucia v. Metropolitan Dade County, 451 So.2d 1008 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984) (Bus driver has duty to control known dangerous passenger).

 $[\]frac{10}{}$ See Manors of Inverrary XII v. Atreco-Florida, Inc., 438 So.2d 490, 495 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), review dismissed, 450 So.2d 485 (Fla. 1984) (J. Glickstein, concurring: "[absent rejection of the 'special duty' doctrine,] a duty to all may in effect become a duty to none.").

really required was a showing of "direct, personal injury" by the negligence of the municipal officer. $\frac{11}{}$

The "traditional negligence concepts" referred to in *Commercial Carrier* clearly do not incorporate the "special duty" doctrine; the scope of any given duty is determined by the scope of the reasonably foreseeable risk—and a defendant's duty therefore extends to reasonably foreseeable victims of the defendant's negligence. This Court has stated the traditional scope of a defendant's duty in a negligence action as follows:

An action for negligence is predicated upon the existence of a legal duty owed by the defendant to protect the plaintiff from an unreasonable risk of harm. The extent of the defendant's duty is circumscribed by the scope of the anticipated risks to which the defendant exposes others. In order to prevail in a lawsuit, the plaintiff must demonstrate that he is within the zone of risks that are reasonably foreseeable by the defendant.

Stevens v. Jefferson, 436 So.2d 33, 35 (Fla. 1983), quoting Crislip v. Holland, 401 So.2d 1115, 1117 (Fla. 4th DCA), review denied, 411 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1981).

There are numerous additional Florida decisions defining the scope of particular duties solely in terms of the foreseeability of injuries to others within the zone of risk created by the defendant's conduct. See, e. g., A. R. Moyer, Inc. v. Graham, 285 So.2d 397 (Fla. 1973); Green Springs, Inc. v. Calvera, 239 So.2d 264 (Fla. 1970); Carter v. Livesay Window Co., 73 So.2d 411 (Fla. 1954); Smith v. Hinkley, 98 Fla. 132, 123 So. 564 (1929); Duff v. Florida Power & Light Co., 449 So.2d 843 (Fla. 4th DCA), review denied, 449 So.2d 843 (Fla. 1984); Parliament Towers Condominium v. Parliament House Realty, Inc., 377 So.2d 976 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979); Navajo Circle, Inc. v. Development Concepts Corp., 373 So.2d 689 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1979); Homan v. County of Dade, 248 So.2d 235 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1971); Florida East Coast Railway Co. v. Booth, 148 So.2d 536 (Fla. 3rd DCA),

 $[\]frac{11}{}$ The "special duty" doctrine is also dying in other jurisdictions as well. For recent decisions rejecting this now thoroughly discredited doctrine, see Irwin v. Town of Ware, 392 Mass. 745, 467 N.E.2d 1292 (1984), and Schear v. Board of County Commissioners of the County of Bernallilo, 687 P.2d 728 (N.M. 1984).

cert. denied, 155 So.2d 551 (Fla. 1963). Compare Kenan v. Houstoun, 150 Fla. 357, 7 So.2d 837 (1942) (where danger unforeseeable, no duty of care exists). No Florida decision limits the scope of a defendant's duty to readily identifiable potential victims (except the now-repudiated "special duty" doctrine cases), which should be perfectly evident from the fact that the defendants rely upon no Florida decisions here. $\frac{12}{}$

In view of this well-settled rule, it should come as no surprise to this Court that the specific duty expressed in \$319 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts has been implicitly recognized in many Florida decisions, and that all of them implicitly recognize that the scope of the duty extends to foreseeable potential victims of a dangerous "charge"--not merely specifically identifiable victims. See, e. g., Newsome v. Department of Transportation, 435 So.2d 887 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), review denied, 459 So.2d 314 (Fla. 1984) (party charged with supervisory responsibility over incarcerated, dangerous individual may be found liable for individual's escape and rape of member of the public); Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. McDougall, 359 So.2d 528 (Fla. 1st DCA), cert. denied, 365 So.2d 711 (Fla. 1978) (party charged with supervisory responsibility over mentally ill, dangerous individual may be found liable for individual's escape and murder

^{12/} This Court's recent decision in First American Title Insurance Co., Inc. v. First Title Service Co. of The Florida Keys, Inc., 457 So.2d 467 (Fla. 1984), is inapposite on this point. In that case, this Court acknowledged the traditional tort concept that the scope of a defendant's duty is determined by the foreseeability of injury--but refused to recognize the existence of a tort action (for purely economic damage) for the negligent preparation of an abstract, and limited the universe of plaintiffs in such an action to those contracting with the abstractor and third-party beneficiaries of the contract. Unlike the action in First American Title, the instant action cannot be limited to a contract action; it is clearly an action sounding in tort, and governed by fundamental concepts of the law of negligence.

Neither is Forlaw v. Fitzer, 456 So.2d 432 (Fla. 1984), apposite here. Although the defendants relied on Forlaw in the District Court, they have abandoned their reliance upon it here-for good reason. Forlaw holds only that merely prescribing drugs to a known addict-in good faith and within the scope of accepted medical treatment and without more-"is not negligent". Id. at 434. That is not a holding that no duty of care exists in such a situation; it is a holding that the duty of care owed by the physician was not breached on the facts in that case. Forlaw is therefore beside the point here.

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